RESILIENT
BUSINESS
*= TRUSTED
BRANDS

Turners.

Automotive Group

ANNUAL REPORT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020




On behalf of the Board and management of
Turners Automotive Group Limited, we are pleased
to present the Annual Report for the financial year
ended 31 March 2020.
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Grant Baker Todd Hunter
Chairman Chief Executive Officer
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FY20 AT A GLANCE

LAUNCH OF NEW STRATEGY IN MAY 2019 - FINANCIAL SNAPSHOT
SIMPLIFY, DE-RISK AND GROW

GROUP REVENUE NET PROFIT BEFORE TAX
SIMPLIFY THE BUSINESS $332.7M $291M

-19 [)
REBRANDED BUY RIGHT CARS TO TURNERS: Completed in May 2019, 1% 0%
leveraging the high levels of awareness and trust in the Turners brand.

DE-RISK THE BUSINESS

CONCLUDED STRATEGIC REVIEW OF OXFORD FINANCE, with
ownership retained and focus on reshaping and growing the business.

$ MILLIONS
$ MILLIONS

CONTINUED FOCUS ON HIGH QUALITY BORROWERS, resulting in
improved arrears performance.
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REFINEMENT OF RISK PRICING: For the insurance and finance FYie FY17 FY8 FYI9 FY20 FYie FY17 FY8 FYI9 FY20
businesses.

GROW THE BUSINESS

NET PROFIT AFTER TAX FULL YEAR DIVIDENDS
$21.0M 14.0 CENTS PER SHARE
-8%

EXPANSION OF THE RETAIL NETWORK: Relocated North Shore site to
new Wairau Valley location, opened new Hamilton site and committed to
development of two new Auckland sites and a large new site in Dunedin.

EXPANDED AUTOSURE DISTRIBUTION NETWORK: Agreed strategic
distribution agreement with Heartland Bank to sell Autosure insurance
products through Heartland’s consumer intermediary network.

DIGITAL ADVANTAGE: Continued to invest into technology platform,
digital marketing and leveraging data assets.
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INNOVATION AND VENTURES: Investment into ASX-listed Collaborate
Corporation, a tech-focused vehicle subscription business based in
Australia. Agreed commercial terms for the launch of Carly vehicle
subscription in New Zealand.

CENTS PER SHARE

FY16 FY17 FY18 FY19 FY20 FY16 FY17 FY18 FYI9 FY20

FY20 FINANCIAL SNAPSHOT SECTOR REVENUE SECTOR OPERATING PROFIT

m  Final six weeks of the financial year impacted by COVID-19 pandemic
and Level 4 lockdown

m  |ncrease in Net Profit Before Tax (NPBT) to $29.1m, in line with
pre COVID-19 guidance of $28m to $30m

m  Underlying NPBT $28.8m, up 1%
m  Net Profit After Tax down 8% to $21.0m

m  Solid gains in the finance, insurance & credit management businesses;
Auto retail impacted by slowdown in last six weeks of FY20 due to
COVID-19

m  Group revenue decreased 1% on previous year

$ MILLIONS
$ MILLIONS

: _ __ _ FY16 FY17 FY18 FY19 FY20 FY16 FY17 FY18 FYI9 FY20

m  Solid market share gains, within the context of a softening used car
market

: : : - B AUTOMOTIVE RETAIL M FINANCE AND INSURANCE DEBT MANAGEMENT

®  Paid 14.0 cents per share in fully imputed dividends for the FY20 year
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MARKET DYNAMICS AND TRENDS

The used car market is evolving and we are
positioning ourselves to take advantage of the
opportunities this brings. We are excited about
our potential in this changing environment.

CUSTOMER-CENTRIC: Customers are more
informed and delivering great customer
outcomes is essential to survive and prosper.

DATA AND TECHNOLOGY: Big data and
technology are changing how and where we
do business.

ONLINE EXPERIENCE: More of the customer
experience is transitioning online, particularly
for finance and insurance.

AGGREGATOR AND COMPARISON SITES are
proliferating.

REGULATION AND COMPLIANCE across all
our businesses is increasing.

INDUSTRY CONSOLIDATION is inevitable and
we are in the midst of this right now.

DISRUPTION FROM ALTERNATIVE
OWNERSHIP MODELS which could
see people moving away from owning one,
two or more cars per household, to flexible
ownership and subscription models.

The used car
market is
evolving and we
are positioning
ourselves to take
advantage of the
opportunities
this brings.
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OUR STRATEGIC
THEMES FORFY21

STRATEGIC THEMES FOR FY21

1. Opportunity to Accelerate Market Share We are
in a position to realise any new opportunities
that arise from a disrupted market and expect
to accelerate the market share gains that have
been made in recent years. We will concentrate
on increasing our market share through
optimising our existing branch network, creating
new consignment relationships, expanding our
retail footprint and taking advantage of market
consolidation.

2. Leverage Our Scale and Brand Equity
Our scale offers multiple advantages, giving
us greater buying power, greater strength and
greater access to capital. Our highly trusted
Turners brand will become even more relevant
in the new economy. Turners is consistently
NZ'’s leading used auto retail brand, according
to independent market research, and recently
received the 2020 Readers Digest Trusted Brand
Award as New Zealand’s most trusted used car
dealer.

3. Playing to Our Strengths
Diversified Business: Turners is a purposefully
diversified business. Each business has different
business cycles and delivers a balance of
annuity vs activity based revenue. Geographical
diversification also allows the business to
redeploy inventory if there are any localised
lockdowns going forward or regional demand
differences.

4. Digital Advantage
We are committed to creating competitive
advantage from technology investments and will
double down on these efforts to further broaden
our technology advantage. A key differentiator
for our business is the Turners’ digital platform
which is the #2 most visited auto website in NZ
behind TradeMe.

5. Balance Sheet Capacity to Support Growth
Our balance sheet is a major competitive
advantage, and will enable continued growth in
a consolidating market. We are well positioned
from a funding and capital perspective to take
advantage of growth opportunities in the future.

OUR STRATEGY

TURNERS’ STRATEGY IS
BASED ON OUR STRENGTHS
AND THE OPPORTUNITIES

THAT EXIST FOR OUR BUSINESS.

The industry is changing
and we are taking action to ensure
we are well positioned to take
advantage of future trends.
The Automotive Retail sector
remains our primary
focus.

OUR AMBITION OUR STRENGTHS

OUTCOMES

OUR STRATEGY
SIMPLIFY THE BUSINESS

DE-RISK THE BUSINESS

GROW THE BUSINESS

A WINNING CUSTOMER EXPERIENCE, A MORE EFFICIENT AND
FOCUSED BUSINESS, HIGHER MARGINS AND LOWER RISK, AND
INCREASING VALUE FOR OUR SHAREHOLDERS.
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CHAIR

AND CEO’S
REPORT

Helping Kiwis buy .
vehicles for over 50 years. L?""f
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OUT OF CHALLENGE AND ADVERSITY
COMES NEW OPPORTUNITIES FOR THOSE
BUSINESSES POSITIONED AND READY TO
TAKE ADVANTAGE OF IT.

Turners is the largest used vehicle retailer in the
country, with unrivalled reach, scale and national
brand awareness. Our strength is in Automotive
Retail and we are the largest and most trusted
brand in the industry.

Our focus for FY20 was very much on
organically growing underlying earnings and we
achieved this in three out of our four businesses
and were on track for a full house until COVID-19
hit.

Given the impact of the pandemic in the

last six weeks of the financial year, we were
pleased with the results. Year on year, we were
slightly ahead on reported Net Profit Before
Tax at $29.1m and we delivered strong growth
in underlying earnings, which were up 1% to
$28.8m.

The COVID environment has highlighted the
value of a diversified portfolio of businesses, and
the inherent “annuity” nature of three of those

businesses. Three of our four businesses (Oxford
Finance, Autosure Insurance and EC Credit
Control) were profitable even during the L3/L4
lockdown period.

We launched our new strategy in May 2019, with
a focus on three key themes - Simplify, De-Risk
and Grow our Business. These directed our
actions for most of the year.

We are creating a more streamlined and cost
efficient business, growing our market share
in sectors where we have a dominant position
and building on our strengths to position our
businesses as the preferred choice for our
customers.

Key achievements include our investment into
ASX-listed Collaborate Corporation, a tech-
focused car-sharing and vehicle subscription
business based in Australia; the continuation

of our property strategy with the development
and opening of two new sites with a further four
planned for FY21; and the completion of the
Oxford Finance strategic review.

THE USED CAR ECONOMY

The softening noted in the second half of

the FY19 year continued into FY20, further
compounded by the COVID-19 impact at the
end of FY20. However, underlying demand
remains robust driven by New Zealand’s aging
fleet, with hundreds of thousands of cars
needing replacement over the next few years.

New Zealand’s vehicle fleet continues to age.
Around 950,000 vehicles (20% of light vehicles)
are at or very near the scrapping age, which is
around 19.5 years for an import and 17.5 years
for a New Zealand-new car. More cars are now
exiting the fleet due to the cost of repairs and a
stricter Warrant of Fitness regime.

The NZ used vehicle market is still very
fragmented, however, consolidation is underway.
Dealer numbers have been in decline for the

last two years and we expect this to accelerate
further over the next 12 to 24 months. We know
this is a good time to be pushing hard for gains
in retail market share and we are well positioned
to take advantage of this.

We will focus on building our market share by
growing our customer base and adding value to
customers through our ‘one stop shop’ offer and
customer experience.

OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE

B AUTOMOTIVE RETAIL (TURNERS GROUP)

Revenue: $224.9m 0%
Operating Profit: $13.8m -24%

Turners’ strategy of retail optimisation and the
continued transition of wholesale to retail is
continuing to deliver growth in retail market
share. Throughout FY20 we observed a
softening of the used car market due to reduced
consumer confidence and this decline was
suddenly exacerbated during late February and
March 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

There was a cyclical reduction in consignment
vehicles (down 26%) through the Turners
business in FY20, however, this reduction was
somewhat offset by an increase in sales of
owned inventory (up 6%) with average gross
profits per unit up 12% to $529.

We have a particular focus on optimisation of
our property network. Following year end, a
decision was made to leave the main Penrose
“supersite” in December 2020. Around the same
time, we will bring on stream new retail sites in
Westgate and Mt Richmond which will enable

a better retail experience for our customers.
Penrose was established as a wholesale auction
facility twenty years ago and is no longer
appropriate both in terms of a cost base or
customer experience.

We have successfully integrated the Buy Right
cars business into the Turners’ car business
over the year. We started with the brand
consolidation early in FY20 and the integration
has now been extended to core IT and
operational systems which will enable further
efficiencies.

BuyNow retail sales were down around
0.5% year on year, which we were pleased
with considering the impact of COVID-19. A
new Dunedin branch at double the previous
footprint, and new sites in Westgate and Mt
Richmond, should see further gains made in
retail sales over the next one to two years,
depending on the speed of recovery in the
economy.

Damaged vehicle units were up 12% with some
good gains from existing insurance vendors and
the benefit from one-off events like the Timaru
hail storm and flood damaged cars from Sky
City.

020T Ld0d3d TVNNNY dNOUD JAILOWOLNY SHINAINL



B FINANCE (OXFORD FINANCE)

Revenue: $45.7m +4%
Operating Profit: $12.2m +10%

The Finance business had an excellent year
with operating profit increasing 10% to $12.2m.
This reflects our increasing focus on lending to
higher quality borrowers. We introduced 3-tier
risk pricing in August 2019 which has enabled
us to be much more targeted towards high
quality borrowers and tighten up at the lower
end of the quality range. Premium Tier risk now
accounts for 11% of our total existing book and
is around 30-40% of new lending each month.
Instalment arrears on Premium Tier business is
tracking at around 0.01% compared to Tier 2
instalment arrears at 5.6%.

The introduction of comprehensive credit
reporting alongside negative reporting is
proving to be a strong combination of data to
help us profile borrowers.

The Turners Cars loan origination is going well
and we are earning more margin in the Group
as a result of this. Turners Cars’ ledger is now up
to $52m and is performing exceptionally well on
lending quality metrics.

We also completed the strategic review process
for Oxford Finance during the year and, whilst
there was significant interest above the book
value of the business, in the Board'’s view,

the offers received did not fully reflect the
intrinsic value of Oxford Finance, both today
and especially factoring in the planned organic
growth. We are pleased to have such a strong
annuity business within the Group at this

time and have funding and equity capacity to
continue growing this business over the next
few years.

H INSURANCE (AUTOSURE)

Revenue: $44.1m -9%
Operating Profit: $6.2m -25%

Insurance revenue declined in FY20 reflecting
a one-off gain from property sale in the prior
year ($3.0m), and further risk optimisation

we are running through the portfolio. General
Gross Written Premium (GWP) was down 7%
to $36.8m as a result of market conditions and
focusing on lower risk portfolios and vehicles.

Pleasingly, underlying profit (which excludes the
gain on property sale in FY19) increased due

to continued improvements in risk pricing and
reduction in claims loss ratios, resulting from

a new insurance software system, as well as
procurement initiatives. The combined claims
loss ratio for FY20 was 62% (FY19: 64%), while
the MBI loss ratio was 66% (FY19: 75%).

All originators have now been transitioned
to a new retail policy generation system
and we continue to review dealers’ portfolio
performance for risk pricing.

Our Reserve Bank Culture and Conduct
Review work was completed with a number of
initiatives implemented, ensuring we are closer
to end users and better understand customer
outcomes and experience.

The distribution partnership announced
between Heartland Bank and our respective
brands, Autosure and MARAC, is now
implemented and working well. We are working
on similar models of distribution with a number
of other organisations which involve deep
integration of our insurance system into their
front end sales system. This is an area where we
will continue to invest.

B CREDIT MANAGEMENT (EC CREDIT
CONTROL)

Revenue: $17.9m -1%
Operating Profit: $6.5m +3%

EC Credit Control’s performance was in line
with the previous year. Although debt load was
down 5% for the year, the debt collected was up
14%, driven mostly out of improved collections
from Australian SME clients and Corporate NZ
clients. Commission earned from debt collected
increased 11% to $10.0m.

Our traction with customers connecting to EC
Credit via Xero and MYOB continues to gather
momentum with over 420 customers now
connected and loading debt worth over $3m
during FY20.

The team responded quickly to the COVID
situation and all Work From Home systems
operated at 100 percent. We worked closely
with our large corporate customers to help
manage their reputational risk with debt
collection work during lockdown and we are
expecting a significant increase in debt loaded
from these customers in the medium term. We
have already seen a lift in debt load from SME
customers in the first quarter of FY21.

As we did with Oxford Finance, we will also
conduct a strategic review of EC Credit in the
next 12-24 months.

DIGITAL, DATA AND DISRUPTION

In all our businesses, digital initiatives are being
prioritised.

We are continuing to invest in digital marketing
and data. We have several projects underway in
the areas of lead management and automated
communications. This investment enables us

to better identify users on our website and be
more targeted in subsequent communications
with them.

We have also implemented an automated digital
communications project which allows a more
strategic and targeted approach to people who
are looking to buy or sell through Turners.

We are working on two major data projects
which will help us in the area of pricing vehicles
and identifying credit risk. Both these projects
leverage “off-the-shelf” cloud-based data

tools, including machine-learning. The proof

of concept results are promising and we know
there is a significant opportunity in vehicle
purchasing to help identify and limit our “bad
buys”, as there is in the finance business with
identifying and limiting our “bad lending”.

We were planning to launch a car subscription
service in March this year, however, progress
has been impeded by COVID-19. We have
subsequently made the decision to brand the
business under the Turners brand umbrella
due to its high trust, strong brand value and
recognition. We are working directly with
Collaborate in Australia to get the subscription
platform set up for NZ and now expect Turners
Car Subscription to be up and running in Q2
FY21.

DIVIDEND AND SHARE BUY BACK
PROGRAMME

In March 2020, the Board deferred the Q3
dividend payment as a cautionary step due

to the uncertainty surrounding the length of a
L4/L3 lockdown. In June 2020, with a better
understanding of how the business was tracking,
the Board declared a final fully imputed dividend
incorporating the Q3 deferred dividend of 6.0
cents per share, resulting in full year dividends
of 14.0 cps. The Board believes this level of

pay out best ensures our ability to navigate

the volatility of the current environment, and
also the optionality to take advantage of any
upcoming opportunities.

The Board’s intention at this stage is to continue
dividend payouts for FY21in line with the
current policy level of 60-70% of net profit after
tax.

The Board continues to believe that the

share price does not appropriately reflect the
fundamentals of the business and recommenced
the share buyback programme in August and
September 2019. Approximately, 1.4 million
shares were bought and cancelled, equating to
1.6% of shares on issue.

RESPONDING TO COVID-19

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic began

to be seen on our business in February 2020.
While we have now moved to a ‘new normal’, we
would like to acknowledge and thank our team
for their efforts during this challenging time.
They have been committed, understanding, and
prepared to go above and beyond in difficult
circumstances. We would also like to thank
those landlords and business partners who
extended a helping hand during the early part of
lockdown...this was greatly appreciated.

The sudden change brought about by the
COVID-19 lockdown required dynamic planning
and execution urgency. The speed at which we
were able to respond was a testament to the
skills in our IT group but also the technology
investments we have made over the last few
years.

We had a very simple approach to our response
to the situation.

We reacted to make sure that, as a business, we
were in a position to survive a three to six month
lockdown and prepare for a potentially longer
restricted trading environment. We took a “cash
is king” approach to this.

We then had to start rethinking the business.
Our primary objective was to resume trading as
soon as possible, in a way that safely managed
the risk to our people and our customers. We
initiated a successful contactless, 100% online
trading programme and, even during the Level
4 and 3 lockdown, we were able to sell 600
vehicles online. The ability to sell uninspected
vehicles online at scale for the first time
demonstrates the high trust and awareness of
the Turners brand and given its popularity, we
plan to continue with this online service.

This ability to continue trading allowed us to
avoid a dilutive capital raise.

We knew that economic conditions were likely
to change for some people, so we needed to
think about our risk in the finance book and
adjust our lending criteria accordingly. We also
knew that strong trusted brands would have a
sizeable opportunity in a post-lockdown world.

0202 L40d3d TVNNNY dNOY¥D FAILOWOLNY SHIANANL



We are now in the rebuilding phase and focusing
on the opportunities. This will require disciplined
cost control, leveraging our strong online
platform, continuing to invest in technology
where it makes sense and building our market
share in all our respective businesses.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Our drive to create a better business
encompasses not only delivering returns to our
shareholders, but also supporting our people,
our communities and our environment.

We believe that creating a long lasting,
sustainable and profitable business also

delivers benefits for our people, by providing
employment in regions throughout New
Zealand. At no other time has the importance

of supporting our people been more evident
than during the lockdown. We were able to keep
many staff working from home and financially
supported those who were unable to work.

Health and safety remains a priority and we
moved quickly to create new ways of working,
to keep our people and our customers safe
during this time, with the launch of our BuySafe
initiative.

We are committed to ethical and fair conduct,
which is particularly relevant given the industries
we operate in. We believe in not only doing the
right thing for business, but also the right thing
for our customers and our people.

We are conscious that we operate in a sector
which has a high carbon footprint. We believe
that some of the initiatives we are taking will
help reduce this impact, from having more staff
working from home, through to car subscription
services and offering electric vehicles for sale.
We also take sustainability into account when
building new sites and premises, with solar
panels currently being trialled on the roof of our
Hamilton dealership.

FY21 OUTLOOK

As with many businesses there are many
unknowns in our operating environment, over
the next 12 to 24 months. However, the long
term dynamics of the used car industry remain
robust and an attractive opportunity for Turners.

We have identified five strategic themes, which
will help us navigate this environment and have
outlined these on page 8.

In summary, we will be looking to:
1. Accelerate market share growth
2. Leverage our scale and brand equity

3. Benefit from the diversification of our
business

4. Invest to build our digital advantage

5. Leverage our balance sheet capacity to
support growth opportunities

We have full confidence in our strategy,

our businesses and our teams to deliver

an improving performance for all our
stakeholders, from our customers through to
our shareholders. The pandemic has hastened
our move to become a more cost efficient, more
resilient and more focused business. This will
benefit Turners as we look to grow our business
and take advantage of opportunities.

Our thanks go to all our customers, suppliers
and business partners, and especially to

our people, who have helped us overcome
the recent challenges and positioned us for
an exciting future. We look forward to our
shareholders sharing this journey with us.

Grant Baker Todd Hunter
Chairman Chief Executive Officer
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OUR BUSINESS

RESPONDING TO THE COVID-19 CHALLENGE

The sudden change brought about by COVID-19 required dynamic
planning and execution urgency. The speed at which we were able to

adapt our business was a testament to the technology investments we

have made over the last few years.

REACT
ENSURE SURVIVAL OF THE BUSINESS, ‘CASH IS KING’ APPROACH

Safety of staff and customers a priority

Rapid Working From Home setup completed
Hiring freeze implemented

Annual leave utilised, where appropriate
Accessed Government Wage Subsidy support
All permanent team members retained

Reduction in pay for senior management and directors for 3-month
period

All costs reviewed and discretionary spend halted
Deferred capital expenditure

Established what was possible eg. Essential service, selling cars
online

Daily reporting on critical KPIs established

RETHINK

ASSESS AND EVALUATE, POSITION FOR THE ‘NEW NORMAL’,
AVOID A DILUTIVE CAPITAL RAISE

Online purchasing and contactless delivery implemented
WFH on a more permanent basis
Customers reverting to trusted brands

Assessing the challenges of growing unemployment, weakening
demand and softening prices

Close communication with funder
Avoided a dilutive capital raise

REBUILD
EYES ON THE PRIZE AND PREPARE FOR OPPORTUNITIES

Disciplined cost control

Continue to offer 100% online customer experience

Review credit risk scoring

Enhance distribution in insurance

Push the trust and strength in our brands

Significant opportunity to build market share in all our businesses
Leverage strong balance sheet to take advantage of opportunities

LEADING CHANGE

In FY20, we acquired a 12% stake in ASX-listed Collaborate Corp.
Collaborate’s core business centres around the rapidly evolving car
sharing market with DriveMyCar, Australia’s leading peer-to-peer car
rental business, complemented by Carly, Australia’s first truly flexible car
subscription offering, which launched in March 2019.

This investment provides an exciting opportunity for Turners to participate
in the rapid growth of the ‘Sharing Economy’ as it relates to transportation
and changing consumer preferences.

Alternative vehicle ownership models are on the rise internationally, and
vehicle subscription programmes could account for nearly 10% of all new
vehicle sales in the US and Europe by 2025. In developed markets like
the UK and the US, subscription-based ownership models have already
crossed 10% of monthly household incomes, driven in large part by the
benefits experienced by consumers such as greater flexibility and a
reduction in costs incurred including the purchase of vehicles, parking,
insurance, fuel and maintenance'.

We are excited about Turner’s future as we position ourselves for the long
term projected changes in the traditional retail car market. New concepts
such as peer to peer car rentals and car sharing are a part of the future
and provide a new revenue opportunity for car dealers and other industry
players.

https:/www.forbes.com/sites/sarwantsingh/2018/07/30/your-next-car-could-be-a-flexible-

subscription-model/#2ec7ac4f4ffa

“New concepts such

as peer to peer car
rentals and car sharing
are a part of the future
and provide a new
revenue opportunity for
car dealers and other
industry players.”
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+ Turners Cars BuySafe

Making it safe & easy for our customers to buy from home

As Level Three approached, the opportunity to commence a contactless, safe and
trusted online retail service became a reality. Turners’ BuySafe program was designed to
sell vehicles under the operational restrictions of Level 3 while keeping our staff and our
customers safe.

BuySafe builds on the existing online research and buying capabilities of Turners and
added in new innovations such as virtual test drives via phone video calling, remote
finance approvals, a 5-day money back guarantee and a contactless handover process.

A impactful marketing campaign was launched to highlight that customers could
purchase vehicles through a safe, 100% contactless process, and to give customers the
confidence to do so. Designed to be a simple checklist of the vehicle buying journey, each
step of the process was outlined in the online campaign, with the emphasis being on
safety. And not just from a health perspective. Buying a car without a physical inspection
can be daunting for most. The addition of the 5-Day money back guarantee was made to
give customers ‘buying safety’. This gave the ultimate confidence to buy - a no questions
asked return policy.

The BuySafe program is still running for any who require it. And the 5-Day money back
guarantee has been made available on over half our stock for all customers through the
retail channel.

T = B

SAFETY FIRST CHOOSE VIRTUAL
YOUR CAR TEST DRIVE

5-DAY ﬁ i\
MONEY BACK (@) @)
(e]e) (@)
CONTACTLESS MONEY BACK CONTACTLESS
ONLINE BUYING GUARANTEE HANDOVER

*Not all vehicles have this offer. Terms and conditions apply.

A impactful marketing
campaign was
launched to highlight
that customers could
purchase vehicles
through a safe,

100% contactless
process, and to

give customers

) the confidence
to do so.

".I h
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FY20 FINANCIAL
COMMENTARY

This financial commentary should be read in conjunction
with the full financial statements and Notes to the Financial
Statements in the FY20 Annual Report.

REVENUE

Revenues were stable compared to the prior year. The gains
being made by Auto Retail prior to February were offset by

the COVID-19 impact. Finance revenues increased due to

the increase in origination from Turners Cars and third-party
originators. Insurance revenues reflected fewer policies sold as a
result of market conditions and further tweaks to risk pricing.

NET PROFIT BEFORE TAX (NPBT)

Reported NPBT of $29.1m was in line with guidance of $28-
$30m and stable on FY19 NPBT of $29.0m. The year on year
decrease for Auto Retail reflects the property settlement in

the prior year which provided a contribution of $3.4m. The
improvement in Finance was driven by higher quality new loans
and the resulting improved arrears performance. In addition, a
COVID-19 overlay of $Im has been applied to finance receivable
provisioning to mitigate any potential increase in credit losses
over the next 12 months. The Insurance result reflects the
positive progress in claims ratios which have continued to offset
reduced policy sales.

Excluding IFRS 16 changes and strategic review costs in FY20,
and property revaluations/sales and the Buy Right Cars brand
write off in FY19, Underlying NPBT was up 11% year on year. This
increase was driven by gains made in the Insurance, Finance
and Credit divisions, partially offset by a small drop in Auto
Retail due to COVID-19.

DIVIDEND

Turners paid fully imputed dividends for the FY20 year of 14.0 cents per share. In March 2020, the
Board deferred the Q3 dividend payment as a cautionary step due to the uncertainty surrounding
the length of a L4/L3 lockdown. In June 2020, with a better understanding of the impact on

the business and the trading environment, the Board declared a final fully imputed dividend
incorporating the Q3 deferred dividend of 6.0 cents per share, resulting in full year dividends of
14.0 cps.

BALANCE SHEET

Turners has a strong balance sheet and is well positioned from a funding and capital perspective to
take advantage of growth opportunities into the future. The primary changes in the balance sheet in
FY20 were as follows:

+ Cash and cash equivalents: Just prior to year end, Turners increased its cash balances by pre-
emptively drawing down on facilities to ensure sufficient liquidity through the Level 4 lockdown.
These precautionary drawings have now been repaid.

* Inventory: The increase in inventory reflects the COVID-19 slowdown and lockdown in March.

* The change in Finance Receivables reflects quality growth in Oxford Finance, offset by the
rundown in the MTF non-recourse ledger.

* The increase in Property, Plant and Equipment is due to the development of new sites in
Whangarei and North Shore and the Mt Richmond purchase.

« Shareholder equity decreased to $223m as at 31 March 2020 due to the share buyback and
impact of IFRS 16 Leases on retained earnings.

FUNDING AND LIQUIDITY

Turners’ funding remains at conservative levels. As at 31 March 2020, Turners’ funding capacity was
$428m with $78m undrawn. Sixty nine percent or $242m of this debt relates to finance receivables
funding within Oxford Finance. During March 2020, the BNZ increased the limit for the securitisation
warehouse facility from $200m to $250m (including capital contribution from TRA) to provide the
headroom for further growth in the finance book. The remaining 31% of debt ($108m) relates to
borrowings associated with property, inventory and the $25m Bond program.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

$MILLIONS FY20 FY19 VAR
Reported profit before tax 29.1 29.0 0.3%
Oxford strategic review costs 0.2 -

IFRS 16 Lease Accounting changes (0.5) -

Christchurch property revaluation - (0.8)

Property Settlement - Albany site - (3.4)

Brand Write-Off (Buy Right Cars) - 4.6

Sale of property - (3.4)

Underlying operating result 28.8 26.0 11%

NET PROFIT AFTER TAX (NPAT)

Net profit after tax (NPAT) was $21.0m (FY19: $22.7m).

Reported earnings per share was down 8% to 24.4 cents per
share largely reflecting a higher effective tax rate in FY20.

$MILLIONS FY16 FY17 FY18 FY19 FY20
Operating Revenue 170.3 251.0 330.5 336.6 332.7
Net Profit Before Tax (Operating

Profit) 21.6 24.6 311 29.0 29.1
Net Profit After Tax 15.6 17.6 23.4 22.7 21.0
Earnings Per Share 24.7 25.5 29.3 26.2 24.4
Dividends Per Share 13.0 14.5 15.5 17.0 14.0
Financial Position

Finance Receivables 167.6 207.1 289.8 290.0 293.0
Total Assets 367.1 556.6 651.7 654.2 708.4
Borrowings 174.8 265.9 317.4 312.9 350.4
Shareholder Funds 129.8 171.7 214.3 226.4 223.1
L e
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THE BOARD

GRANT BAKER
Non-executive Chairman | Appointed September 2009

Grant Baker has wide experience at a senior level in
both public and private New Zealand companies. He
has been involved in a number of successful ventures,
including 42 Below vodka and Trilogy International.

With a 713% shareholding, Grant is a long term
committed investor in Turners Automotive Group and
has been Chairman of Turners Automotive Group since
September 2009. As an avid collector of specialist
vehicles and motor racing enthusiast, both as a
competitor and as a backer of young up and coming
drivers, he is passionate about the strong Turners brand
and its focus on cars.

PAUL BYRNES
Deputy Chairman and Independent Director |
Appointed February 2004

Paul Byrnes is a chartered accountant, a professional
director and an investor with over 25 years’ experience
in senior and CEQO roles in private and listed companies.
His career has included the management buyout of
previously listed Holeproof Industries, consulting and
participation in merger and acquisition opportunities
and business ‘turnaround’ management. Paul was
appointed CEO and Executive Director of Dorchester
Pacific in May 2008 (now Turners Automotive Group),
handing over the CEO role to Todd Hunter in June
2016. Paul is entrepreneurial at heart but combines this
with a wealth of top class governance experience (Top
Energy and Hellaby Holdings) and the real world CEO
experience of bringing a finance company positively out
of the GFC. Paul has a 2.90% shareholding in Turners
Automotive Group.

MATTHEW HARRISON
Non-executive Director | Appointed December 2012

Matthew Harrison has extensive management
experience and a background in finance and business
administration. He is the former Managing Director of
EC Credit Control, the debt recovery business acquired
in 2012 and has great experience dealing with credit
cycles and credit management. He joined EC Credit
Control in 1998, following senior management roles

in the courier industry. Matthew joined the Turners
Automotive Group Board in 2012 and represents his
family interests, which have a 7.65% combined holding
in the company. Matthew is a self-confessed “car nut”
and has owned some very special cars over the years
including a McLaren P1. He is very enthusiastic about the
future of Turners and, given his large shareholding and
love for automobiles, is strongly committed to seeing
Turners continue its successful journey.

ALISTAIR PETRIE
Non-executive Director | Appointed February 2016

Alistair Petrie has over 15 years of senior management experience in both
private and listed companies in the agribusiness sector. He has extensive
knowledge in sales and marketing in both international and domestic
environments, which is particularly useful for some of the challenges

and opportunities Turners has importing vehicles from Japan. He has a
number of directorships with companies that have a focus on growth and
innovation, and he represents the interests of Bartel Holdings, which has
a 1117% shareholding in Turners Automotive Group. Alistair worked for
many years at Turners & Growers, the original parent company of Turners
Auctions, which provides a nice connection at Board level back to those
foundational brand values of “trust and integrity”. Alistair has a BSC (hons)
from Newcastle Upon Tyne university and an EMBA from Melbourne
University.

JOHN ROBERTS
Independent Director | Appointed July 2015

John Roberts has extensive experience in the financial services industry,
having held the role of Managing Director of credit bureau Veda
International for 10 years, during which time the Veda Advantage business
was successfully listed on the ASX. John previously had over 15 years in
advertising, with CEO roles with Saatchi & Saatchi in New Zealand and
Asia Pacific, before heading up MasterCard in New Zealand for three years.
John is currently a director of Centrix, a leading credit rating agency in NZ,
and this keeps him connected with the financial sector and the NZ credit
cycle. John’s advertising and branding experience has been invaluable
across a number of projects within the business and he continues to add
value and thought leadership around the use of data and analytics, drawing
on his Veda NZ experience.

ANTONY VRIENS
Independent Director | Appointed January 2015

Antony Vriens has been a director and chairman of Turners’ insurance
subsidiary, DPL Insurance (now Autosure), since 2012. He is a highly
experienced financial services industry professional, with demonstrated
success as a senior executive and consultant in insurance and wealth
management businesses across Asia Australia and New Zealand. He brings
a hands on, practical and commercial approach and a strong technology
focus to his Board role. His relationships across the insurance industry and
regulators are highly valuable to the Turners business and his collaborative
approach is embraced by both the Board and management.

MARTIN BERRY
Independent Director | Appointed August 2018

Martin Berry is a seasoned global financial services executive having run
large international businesses for the likes of ANZ, Citibank, Barclays and
Standard Chartered. He later focused on more entrepreneurial ventures
with a successful track record of having built, acquired and sold several
companies with values in excess of USD 500m. Martin later founded and
now runs venture capital firm d:tribe capital out of Singapore investing in
early stage tech companies across Asia-Pacific.
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TEAM

Todd Hunter Aaron Saunders
Chief Executive Officer Group Chief Financial Officer

Simon Gould-Thorpe Greg Hedgepeth
Group Chief Information Officer CEO Turners Automotive Retail

James Searle David Wilson
Group General Manager CEO
Insurance EC Credit Control

Jeremy Rooke
General Manager Digital Strategy

Todd Hunter
Chief Executive Officer

Todd is a strong and experienced senior executive, with a background in marketing, sales and
accounting in both large global and domestic businesses. Before joining Turners Auction in 2006
Todd worked for Microsoft NZ and Ernst and Young. He was appointed CEO of NZX listed Turners
Auctions in 2013, and took on the CEO role for the wider Turners Automotive Group in 2016. Todd is
a chartered accountant and holds a Bachelor and Diploma of Commerce from Auckland University.

Aaron Saunders
Group Chief Financial Officer

Aaron joined Turners Group NZ in 2006. He has a strong background in financial and management
accounting, at both a strategic and operating level in local and international markets. Over the last
20 years, Aaron has worked across a broad range of company sizes and industries including vehicle
importation and distribution, broadcasting and the finance sector. Aaron is a full member of the
New Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants and holds a Bachelor of Commerce from Auckland
University.

Simon Gould-Thorpe
Group Chief Information Officer

Simon joined Turners in 2010. With over 30 years’ experience in IT, he has led dynamic and innovative
IT Teams to success across a wide range of industries. His current role has seen the delivery of
significant advancements to assist Turners business transformation, including the development

of new core systems and the introduction of key business and process automation. Turners IT

utilizes leading technologies and follows best practice IT management including DevOps and Agile
methodologies.

Greg Hedgepeth
CEO Turners Automotive Retail

Greg joined Turners in 2017 as CEO of the Automotive Retail Division, with responsibility for Turners
Cars, Trucks & Machinery and the Damaged & End of Life business. He is an experienced automotive
executive and has previously held a number of senior roles with BMW Group NZ and Armstrong
Motor Group, one of NZ’s largest private owned retail automotive networks. With a Bachelor of
Commerce from Auckland University and a number of years working for Saatchis both in NZ and the
US, Greg brings a strong sales and marketing focus to his role.

James Searle
Group General Manager Insurance

James is responsible for operational performance and development of life and consumer (vehicle
and finance related) insurance products. James has over 25 years’ experience in the New Zealand
insurance industry having worked across underwriting, portfolio management, relationship
management and marketing roles for major insurance companies including IAG and Lumley General
Insurance.

David Wilson
CEO EC Credit Control

Dave joined EC Credit in 2007 and was appointed to his current role in April 2015. He has over 20
years’ experience in the banking, finance and recruitment industries, and has worked in the credit
management industry since 2001. Dave has a Diploma in Business Studies.

Jeremy Rooke
General Manager Digital Strategy

Jeremy joined Turners Automotive Group in 2009. His role involves leading the application of new
technologies, business models and channels to enable and expand Turners’ digital capabilities.
Jeremey holds degrees in Law and Arts, and prior to Turners, worked as a business analyst and
projects manager on several large transformative IT programmes, most notably in the insurance
sector.

0202 L40d3d TVNNNY dNOY¥D FAILOWOLNY SHIANANL



Turners

=
(=
A
z
m
A
(%]
>
Cc
-
[©]
<
o
=
<
m
@
A
o
=
o

Automotive Group

FINANCIAL REPORTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

28
35
36
37
38
39

Independent Auditor’s Report

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Notes to the Financial Statements

27



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
for the year ended 31 March 2020

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT cont.
for the year ended 31 March 2020

Level 9, 45 Queen Street, Auckland 1010 +64 9 309 0463

T:

PO Box 3899, Auckland 1140 F: +64 9 309 4544 @ _ .

New Zealand E: auckland@bakertillysr.nz ba ke rt I‘ lly
W: ‘

www.bakertillysr.nz

@ bakertilly

STAPLES RODWAY STAPLES RODWAY

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholders of Turners Automotive Group Limited

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Turners Automotive Group Limited and its
subsidiaries (‘the Group') on pages 35 to 93, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31T March 2020, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the

consolidated financial statements, including significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2020, and its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with New Zealand Equivalents to

International Financial Reporting Standards (‘'NZ IFRS') and International Financial Reporting Standards ('IFRS').

Our report is made solely to the Shareholders of the Group. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we
might state to the Shareholders of the Group those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the Shareholders of the Group as a body, for our audit work, for our report

or for the opinions we have formed.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) (1SAs (NZ2)").
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners
(including International Independence Standards) (New Zealand) issued by the New Zealand Auditing and
Assurance Standards Board and the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (IESBA Code’), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient

and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other than in our capacity as auditor and provider of other assurance services we have no relationship with, or
interests in, Turners Automotive Group Limited or any of its subsidiaries. The provision of these other assurance

services has not impaired our independence.

In addition to this, principals and employees of our firm deal with the Group on normal terms within the ordinary

course of trading activities of the business of the Group. This has not impaired our independence.

Emphasis of Matter — Increased level of inherent uncertainty in the significant accounting estimates and
judgments applied by Management in the preparation of these financial statements, arising from the
ongoing global pandemic of coronavirus disease 2019

We draw attention to Note 4 of the Group’s consolidated financial statements, which describes the impact of
the ongoing global pandemic of the novel coronavirus disease 2019 (‘'COVID-19) and Management's
assessment of and responses to the pandemic. Since March 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic has lowered overall
economic activity and confidence, resulting in significant volatility and instability in financial markets and
economic uncertainty. Consequently, there has been an increase in the level of inherent uncertainty in the
critical accounting estimates and judgements applied by Management in the preparation of these consolidated
financial statements, described in Note 4 of the Group’s consolidated financial statements. As at the date of
the signing of these consolidated financial statements, all reasonably known and available information with
respect to the COVID-19 pandemic has been taken into consideration in the critical accounting estimates and
judgements applied by Management, and all reasonably determinable adjustments have been made in

preparing these consolidated financial statements.

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of
our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do

not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment testing of Goodwill and Other Indefinite Life
Intangible Assets

As disclosed in Note 21 of the Group'’s consolidated Our audit procedures among others included:
financial statements the Group has goodwill of $92.5m
allocated across four of the Group’s cash-generating units
(‘'CGUs') and brand assets of $67.1m allocated across two
of those CGUs. Goodwill and brand assets were significant
to our audit due to the size of the assets and the
subjectivity, complexity and uncertainty inherent in the
measurement of the recoverable amount of these CGUs for
the purpose of the required annual impairment test. The . Evaluating the competence, capabilities, objectivity and
measurement of a CGUs recoverable amount includes the
assessment and calculation of its 'value in-use’.

CGUs based on our understanding of the nature of the

the Group to assess how the CGUs are monitored and
reported.

) ) relevant assertions.
Management has completed the annual impairment test for

to determine the recoverable value of its indefinite life
intangible assets, including those relating to forecasted
revenue, cost, capital expenditure and discount rates, by

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Buy Right Cars
and Turners Group NZ CGUs were amalgamated to reflect
the lowest level within the Group at which goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes.

e  Evaluating Management’s determination of the Group'’s four

Group’s business and the economic environment in which the
segments operate. We also analysed the internal reporting of

expertise of Management's external valuation expert and the
appropriateness of the expert's work as audit evidence for the

each of these four CGUs as at 31 March 2020. e Challenging Management's assumptions and estimates used

adjusting for future events and corroborating the key market
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Key Audit Matter

Management has engaged an external valuation expert to
assist in the annual impairment testing of the four CGUs.

This annual impairment test involves complex and
subjective estimation and judgement by Management on
the future performance of the CGUs, discount rates applied
to future cash flow forecasts, and future market or
economic conditions.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

related assumptions to external data (including the
consideration of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic).

Procedures included:

o  Evaluating the logic of the value-in-use calculations
supporting Management’s annual impairment test
and testing the mathematical accuracy of these
calculations;

o  Evaluating Management'’s process regarding the
preparation and review of forecasts;

o  Comparing forecasts to Board approved forecasts;

o  Evaluating the historical accuracy of the Group's
forecasting to actual historical performance;

o  Challenging and evaluating the forecast growth
assumptions;

o  Evaluating the inputs to the calculation of the
discount rates applied;

o  Engaging our own internal valuation experts to
evaluate the logic of the value-in-use calculation
and the inputs to the calculation of the discount
rates applied;

o  Evaluating Management'’s sensitivity analysis for
reasonably possible changes in key assumptions;
and

o  Performing our own sensitivity analyses for
reasonably possible changes in key assumptions,
the two main assumptions being: the discount rate
and forecast growth assumptions.

Evaluating the related disclosures about indefinite life
intangible assets which are included in Note 21 in the Group'’s
consolidated financial statements.

Valuation of Finance Receivables
including the adoption of NZ IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

As disclosed in Note 14 of the Group's consolidated
financial statements, the Group has finance receivable
assets of $293.0m. Finance receivable assets were
significant to our audit due to the size of the assets and the
subjectivity, complexity and uncertainty inherent in the
recognition of expected credit losses and the amount of
those expected credit losses.

Management has prepared expected credit losses models
to complete its assessment of expected credit losses for
the Group's finance receivables as at 31 March 2020.

This assessment involves complex and subjective
estimation and judgement by Management on credit risk
and the future cash flows of the finance receivables.

Our audit procedures among others included:

Evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of the key
controls over finance receivable origination, ongoing
administration and expected credit losses model data and
calculations.

Selecting a representative sample of finance receivables and
agreeing these finance receivables to the signed loan
agreement and client acceptance documents on origination.

Challenging and evaluating Management's logic, key
assumptions, and calculation of its expected credit losses
models against the requirements specified in NZ IFRS 9 for
recognising expected credit losses on financial assets.

For individually assessed finance receivables, examining
those finance receivables and forming our own judgements
as to whether the expected credit losses provision recognised
by Management was appropriate (including the consideration
of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the expected
credit losses provision).

For the collectively assessed finance receivables, challenging
and evaluating the logic of Management's expected credit
losses models and the key assumptions used with our own
experience (including the consideration of the impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic on key assumptions). Also, testing key
inputs used in the expected credit losses models and the
mathematical accuracy of the calculations within the models.

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

@ bakertilly
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Evaluating the changes made to the provisioning model to
capture the effect of the changing economic environment at
31 March 2020 compared to the economic environment at
the date when the historical data used to determine the
expected credit losses was collected (described in Note 4 to
the Group's consolidated financial statements).

Evaluating the disclosures related to finance receivable
assets, and the risks attached to them, which are included in
Note 5 and 14 in the Group'’s consolidated financial
statements.

Valuation of Insurance Contract Liabilities

As disclosed in Note 35 of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements the Group has insurance contract
liabilities of $51.4m. The Group’s insurance contract
liabilities were significant to our audit due to the size of the
liabilities and the subjectivity, complexity and uncertainty
inherent in estimating the impact of claims events that have
occurred but for which the eventual outcome remains
uncertain.

Management has engaged an external actuarial expert to
estimate the Group’s insurance contract liabilities as at 31
March 2020.

Our audit procedures among others included:

Evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of the key
controls over insurance contract origination, ongoing
administration, claims management and reporting and the
integrity of the related data.

Evaluating the competence, capabilities, objectivity and
expertise of Management's external actuarial expert and the
appropriateness of the expert's work as audit evidence for the
relevant assertions.

Agreeing the data provided to Management's external
actuarial expert to the Group'’s records.

Engaging our own actuarial expert to assist in understanding
and evaluating:

o  the work and findings of the Group’s external
actuarial expert engaged by Management; and

o  the Group's actuarial methods and assumptions to
assist us in challenging the appropriateness of
actuarial methods and assumptions used by
Management.

Assessing the selection of methods and assumptions with a
view to identify management bias.

Evaluating the related disclosures about insurance contract
liabilities, and the risks attached to them, which are included
in Note 35 in the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Adoption of NZ IFRS 16 Leases

As disclosed in Note 32 of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements, the Group has adopted NZ IFRS 16
Leases from 1 April 2019, using the retrospective approach.
This has resulted in the recognition of a right-of-use asset
of $24.9m and a lease liability of $32.5m as at 31 March
2020.

The adoption of NZ IFRS 16 was significant to our audit due
to the size of the assets and liabilities recognised,
complexity of applying the new standard and the
assumptions required by Management for the calculation
of the lease balances.

Management has completed calculations of the lease
balances for all leases as at 1 April 2019 (upon adoption)
and as at 31 March 2020. These calculations require
estimates regarding the lease term and the discount rate.

Our audit procedures, among others, included:

Assessing Management's process relating to the
identification, recording, recognition and measurement of
leases within the scope of NZ IFRS 16.

Assessing Management's judgements made in applying
allowable practical expedients against the requirements of
NZ IFRS 16.

Evaluating the key assumptions used by Management,
including the incremental borrowing rates applied to the lease
portfolio.

For a sample of leases:

o  Agreeing key inputs in the lease calculation to the
underlying lease agreement;

o  Recalculating the lease liability and right-of-use
asset based on the key inputs noted above and
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

compared our recalculations to the balances
recognised by the Group; and

of the lease liability between current and non-

included in Note 32 in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

o  Checking the appropriateness of the classification

current based on the remaining term of the lease.

e  Evaluating the related disclosures about leases which are

Other Information
The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Group's annual report for the year ended 31 March 2020 (but does not include the consolidated

financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not

express any form of audit opinion or assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially

misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed , we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other

information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible on behalf of the Group for the preparation and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements in accordance with NZ IFRS and IFRS, and for such internal control as the
Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that are

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are responsible on behalf of the Group for
assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the

Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a

whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that

includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs (NZ) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these

consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs (NZ), we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional

scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

= |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

= Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group's internal control.

= Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.

= Conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of accounting by the Directors and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group'’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

= Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent fairly the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

= Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible

for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during

our audit.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 31 March 2020

We also provide the Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may

reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current year and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the

public interest benefits of such communication.

Matters Relating to the Electronic Presentation of the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements

This audit report relates to the consolidated financial statements of Turners Automotive Group Limited and its
subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March 2020 included on Turners Automotive Group Limited’s website. The
Directors of Turners Automotive Group Limited are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of Turners
Automotive Group Limited’s website. We have not been engaged to report on the integrity of Turners
Automotive Group Limited's website. We accept no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to

the consolidated financial statements since they were initially presented on the website.

The audit report refers only to the consolidated financial statements named above. It does not provide an
opinion on any other information which may have been hyper linked to or from these consolidated financial
statements. If readers of this report are concerned with the inherent risks arising from electronic data
communication they should refer to the published hard copy of the audited consolidated financial statements
and related audit report dated 30 July 2020 to confirm the information included in the audited consolidated

financial statements presented on this website.

Legislation in New Zealand governing the preparation and dissemination of consolidated financial statements

may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is N S de Frere.

¥,

BAKER TILLYgTAPLES RODWAY AUCKLA—NISJ
Auckland, New Zealand

30 July 2020

2020 2019

Notes $°000 $'000
Revenue 7 332,174 328,358
Other income 7 500 8,221
Cost of goods sold (135,003) (133,126)
Interest expense 7 (14,853) (14,952)
Impairment provision expense 7 (6,044) (7,892)
Subcontracted services expense (17,149) (12,888)
Employee benefits (short term) (55,458) (52,756)
Commission (13,368) (14,581)
Advertising expense (2,743) (3,918)
Depreciation and amortisation expense 7 (11,919) (5,785)
Property and related expenses (1,688) (10,945)
Systems maintenance (1,747) (1,471)
Claims (25,952) (26,804)
Movement in life insurance liabilities 35 (836) (718)
Insurance deferred acquisition costs (701) (423)
Impairment of intangible brand asset - (4,300)
Other expenses (16,148) (16,971)
Profit before taxation 29,065 29,049
Taxation (expense)/benefit 8 (8,112) (6,330)
Profit for the year 20,953 22,719
Other comprehensive income for the year (which may subsequently be reclassified to
profit/loss), net of tax
Cash flow hedges (447) (364)
Revaluation of financial assets at fair value through OCI (310) -
Foreign currency translation differences (12) (26)
Total other comprehensive income (769) (390)
Total comprehensive income for the year 20,184 22,329
Earnings per share (cents per share)
Basic earnings per share 9 24.35 26.21
Diluted earnings per share 9 24.35 27.28

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

for the year ended 31 March 2020

Notes

Balance at 31 March 2018

Change in accounting policies
Impact of the implementation of NZ IFRS 15
Impact of the implementation of NZ IFRS 9

Balance at 1 April 2018 (restated)

Transactions with shareholders in their capacity as owners
Capital contributions (net of issue costs)

Capital buy back

Employee share based payments

Dividend paid

Total transactions with shareholders in their capacity as owners

Comprehensive income

Profit

Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

Balance at 31 March 2019

Change in accounting policy
Impact of the implementation of NZ IFRS 16

Balance at 1 April 2019 (restated)

Transactions with shareholders in their capacity as
owners

Capital contributions (net of issue costs)
Capital buy-back

Cancellation of options

Dividend paid

Total transactions with shareholders

Comprehensive income

Profit

Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

Balance at 31 March 2020

27
27
28
29

32

27
27
28
29

Share
capital
$°000
199,148

199,148

13,388
(6,141)

7,247

206,395

206,395

97
(3,192)
1,027

(2,068)

204,327

Share Translation

options
$°000
701

701

326

326

1,027

1,027

(1,027)

(1,027)

reserve
$000
(1)

(21)

(47)

Revaluation
of financial
assets at
fair value
through OCI
$°000

(310)
(310)

(310)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

Cash flow
hedge
reserve
$°000
(164)

(164)

(364)
(364)

(528)

(528)

(447)
(447)

(975)

Retained
earnings
$°000
14,659

(345)
(2,292)
(2,637)

12,022

(15,214)
(15,214)

22,719

22,719

19,527

(5,666)

13,861

(14,742)

(14,742)

20,953

20,953

20,072

Total
$°000
214,323

(345)
(2,292)
(2,637)

211,686

13,388
(6,141)
326
(15,214)
(7,641)

22,719
(390)
22,329

226,374

(5,666)

220,708

97

(3,192)
(14,742)
(17,837)

20,953
(769)
20,184

223,055

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

for the year ended 31 March 2020

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Trade receivables

Inventories

Finance receivables

Other receivables, deferred expenses and contract assets
Reverse annuity mortgages

Investment property

Financial assets at fair value through OCI
Property, plant and equipment

Right-of-use assets

Intangible assets

Total assets

Liabilities

Other payables

Financial liability at fair value through profit or loss
Contract liabilities

Deferred tax

Tax payables

Derivative financial instruments
Borrowings

Lease liabilities

Life investment contract liabilities
Insurance contract liabilities
Total liabilities

Shareholders’ equity

Share capital

Other reserves

Retained earnings

Total shareholders’ equity

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities

For and on behalf of the Board

G.K. Baker
Chairman Director

Authorised for issue on 30 July 2020

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

Notes

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
20
32
21

22
23
24
25

26
32
35
35

27

/;{;’34

P.A. Byrnes
Deputy chairman

2020
$°000

32,771
64,988
8,609
44,371
293,037
8,572
4,913
5,650
1,000
52,788
24,850
166,843
708,392

28,048
2,085
10,080
2,772
985
350,364
32,511
7,072
51,420
485,337

204,327
(1,344)
20,072

223,055

708,392

2019
$°000

15,866
66,252
12,471
38,859
290,017
10,955
8,294
5,650

39,084

166,734
654,182

33,906
116
2,642
13,918
4,570
524
312,863
7,484
51,785
427,808

206,395
452
19,627
226,374
654,182
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

for the year ended 31 March 2020

Cash flows from operating activities
Interest received

Receipts from customers

Interest paid

Payment to suppliers and employees
Income tax paid

Net cash outflow from operating activities before changes in operating assets and
liabilities

Net increase in finance receivables
Net decrease in reverse annuity mortgages
Net (increase)/decrease of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Net (withdrawals)/contributions from life investment contracts
Changes in operating assets and liabilities arising from cash flow movements

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from sale of property, plant, equipment and intangibles
Purchase of property, plant, equipment and intangibles
Purchase of investments

Sale of investments

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Net bank loan advances/(repayments)

Principal elements of lease payments

Proceeds from the issue of shares

Proceeds from the issue of bonds

Other borrowings

Dividend paid

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities

Net movement in cash and cash equivalents
Add opening cash and cash equivalents
Translation difference

Closing cash and cash equivalents

Represented By:
Cash at bank

Closing cash and cash equivalents

2020
Notes $°000

43,874
289,275
(12,856)

(285,795)
(11,460)

23,038

(27,826)
3,964
704

88

(23,070)

31 (32)

913
(19,245)
(1,310)
473
(19,169)

61,038
(6,998)
(3,192)

(14,742)
36,106

16,905

15,866

32,771

10 32,771

32,771

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

2019
$000

45,023
279,472
(12,184)

(272,052)
(10,752)

29,507

(34,926)
2,545
(12,163)
16

(44,528)

(15,021)

9,388
(12,753)
41

(3,324)

20,570

7,100
(561)
(2,837)
(15,214)
9,058

(9,287)

25,145
8

15,866

15,866

15,866

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2020

1. REPORTING ENTITY
Turners Automotive Group Limited, ('the Company') is incorporated and domiciled in New Zealand. Turners Automotive Group Limited is
registered under the Companies Act 1993.

Turners Automotive Group Limited is a FMC reporting entity for the purposes of the Financial Markets Conduct Act 2013.

The consolidated financial statements of Turners Automotive Group Limited and its subsidiaries (together ‘the Group’) have been prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 1993 and the Financial Markets Conduct Act 2013.

The Group is a for profit entity.

The Group's principal activities are:

. automotive retail (second hand vehicle retailer)

e finance and insurance (loans and insurance products); and
. credit management (collection services).

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the directors on 30 July 2020.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

2.1 Statement of Compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in New Zealand ('NZ GAAP").
They comply with New Zealand Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards ('NZ IFRS') and other applicable Financial
Reporting Standards, as appropriate for profit oriented entities. These financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting
Standards ('IFRS').

2.2 Basis of measurement

The financial report has been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by revaluations for certain classes of assets and
liabilities to fair value and life insurance contract liabilities and related assets to net present value as described in the accounting policies
below.

2.3 Functional and Presentation Currency and Rounding
These financial statements are presented in New Zealand Dollars ($) which is the Company's functional currency. All values are rounded to
the nearest thousand ($000), except when otherwise indicated.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Except as detailed in note 32, the accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial
statements, and have been applied consistently by Group entities.

3.1 Adoption of new and revised Standards and Interpretations

New standards and amendments and interpretations to existing standards that came into effect during the current accounting period beginning
on 1 April 2019 that materially impact the Group’s financial statements are as follows:

. NZ IFRS 16 ‘Leases’.

The other standards did not have a material impact on the Group’s financial statements and did not require retrospective adjustment.

Refer to note 32 for the impact of implementing this new standard.

3.2 New standards and amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective for the current accounting
period beginning on 1 April 2019
The following relevant standards and interpretations have been issued at the reporting date but are not yet effective.

NZ IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

NZ IFRS 17, ‘Insurance Contracts’, will replace NZ IFRS 4, ‘Insurance Contracts’. Under the NZ IFRS 17, insurance contract liabilities will be
calculated at the present value of future insurance cash flows with a provision for risk. The discount rate applied will reflect current interest
rates. If the present value of future cash flows would produce a gain at the time an insurance contract is issued, the model would also require
a "contractual service margin" to offset the day 1 gain. The contractual service margin would be amortised over the life of the insurance
contract. There would also be a new income statement presentation for insurance contracts, including a revised definition of revenue and
additional disclosure requirements. NZ IFRS 17 will also have accommodations for certain specific types of insurance contracts. Short-duration
insurance contracts will be permitted to use a simplified unearned premium liability model until a claim is incurred. For some contracts, in
which the cash flows are linked to underlying items, the liability value will reflect that linkage.

The effective date is annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.

The Group is yet to assess the impact of NZ IFRS 17. The Group intends to adopt NZ IFRS 17 no later than the financial year beginning 1
April 2021.

3.3 Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities controlled by the Group. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in consolidated financial statements
from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2020

Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated in
preparing the consolidated financial statements.

3.4 Foreign currency

Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currency of Group entities at exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated to the functional currency
atthe exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between amortised cost in the functional
currency at the beginning of the year, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the year, and the amortised cost in foreign currency
translated at the exchange rate at the end of the year.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are retranslated to the functional
currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items in a foreign currency that are measured
based on historical costs are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency differences arising on
retranslation are recognised in profit or loss.

Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition, are translated to New
Zealand Dollars at exchange rates at the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated to New Zealand
Dollars at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in other comprehensive income, and presented in the foreign currency translation reserve
(translation reserve) in equity.

When the settlement of a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation is neither planned nor likely in the foreseeable
future, foreign exchange gains and losses arising from such a monetary item are considered to form part of a net investment in a foreign
operation and are recognised in other comprehensive income, and are presented in the translation reserve in equity.

3.5 Revenue and expense recognition
The principal sources of revenue are sales of goods, sales of service, interest income, fees, commissions, and insurance premium income.

3.5.1 Revenue from contracts with customers

Sales of goods

Sales of goods comprise sales of motor vehicle and commercial goods owned by the Group. Sales of goods are recognised when the customer
gains control of the goods. This normally occurs on receipt of a deposit, full payment or approval of financing.

Sales-related warranties associated with goods cannot be purchased separately and they serve as an assurance that the products sold comply
with agreed-upon specifications and cover the standard period established by legislation. There is no material amount of variable consideration
under these contracts nor is there the existence of a significant financing component.

Sales of service

Auction commission is recognised at a point in time in the accounting period in which the service is rendered. Payment for services is normally
deducted from the proceeds from the sale. Other than those provided by legislation no warranties are provided by the Group. There is no
material amount of variable consideration under these contracts nor is there the existence of a significant financing component.

Other sales revenue comprises services rendered preparing the asset for sale and commission earned on the sale of third party products.
Services rendered while preparing the asset for sale are recognised over time in the accounting period in which the service is rendered, and
a contract asset is recognised for amounts relating to services rendered not yet invoiced. Payment for services rendered are either deducted
from the proceeds from the sale or raised as a trade receivable. Other than those provided by legislation no warranties are provided by the
Group. There are no rebates or volume discounts. Commissions earned on the sale of third party products is recognised at a point in time
when the sale is made. Payment is usually received when the sale is made. Other than those provided by legislation no warranties are
provided by the Group. There are no rebates or volume discounts.

Collection income, which is largely fees and commission earned for collecting debt on behalf of third parties and the sale of customised terms
of trade documents, is recognised at a point in time in the accounting period in which the service is rendered, by reference to completion of
the specific transaction assessed on the basis of the actual service provided as a proportion of the total service to be provided. Payment is
either deducted from the monies collected or raised as trade receivable and therefore a contract liability is recognised over the period in which
the services are performed representing the Group’s right to consideration for the services performed to date. If the consideration promised
includes a variable amount for rebates, refunds or credit, then the Group estimates the amount of variable consideration, to the extent that it
is highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur, and recognises a contract liability.
Other than those provided by legislation no warranties are provided by the Group. Costs to obtain contracts such as commissions are
recognised as contract assets and incurred when the related revenue for the contract is released to profit or loss.

Voucher income

Voucher income is the proceeds from the sale of a voucher that on presentation entitles the holder to either load a debt for collection or
register of a security on the Personal Property Securities Register (‘PPSR’). Voucher income is recognised, at a point in time, when the
voucher is redeemed and the debtor’s information is loaded into the collection system or a security is registered on the PPSR. Payment is
normally received when the voucher is sold, and voucher income is initially recognised as a contract liability. For those vouchers that are
unredeemed, voucher income is recognised after a period of time based on historical non-redemption patterns. Estimates are readjusted as
necessary based on movements in the actual non-redemption patterns. Other than those provided by legislation no warranties are provided

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2020

by the Group. There is no material amount of variable consideration under these contracts nor is there the existence of a significant
financing component. Costs to obtain contracts such as commissions are recognised as contract assets and incurred when the related
revenue for the contract is released to profit or loss.

3.5.2 Financial instruments
Interest income and expense
Interest income and expense is recognised in the profit or loss using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method calculates the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and allocates the interest income or interest
expense over the relevant period. The calculation includes all fees paid or received and directly related transaction costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The interest income or expense is allocated over the life of the instrument and is measured for inclusion in
profit and loss by applying the effective interest rate to the instruments amortised cost.

Lending and funding - fees and commissions

Lending fee income (such as booking and establishment fees) that is integral to the effective yield of aloan held at amortised cost is capitalised
as part of the amortised cost and deferred over the life of the loan using the effective interest method. Lending fees not directly related to the
origination of a loan (account maintenance fee) are recognised over the period of service.

Incremental and directly attributable costs (such as commissions) associated with the origination of a financial asset (such as loans) and
financial liabilities (such as borrowings) are capitalised as part of the amortised cost and deferred over the life of the financial instrument using
the effective interest method.

3.5.3 Insurance Contracts

Premium income and acquisition costs

Recurring premiums on life insurance contracts are recognised as revenue when payable by the policyholder. Where policies provide for the
payment of amounts of premiums on specific due dates, such premiums are recognised as revenue when due. Unpaid premiums are only
recognised as revenue during the days of grace and are not recognised where policies are deemed to have lapsed at reporting date.

General insurance premiums comprise the total premiums payable for the whole period of cover provided by contracts entered into during the
reporting period and are recognised on the date on which the policy commences. Premiums include any adjustments arising in the reporting
period for premium receivables written in respect of business written in prior accounting periods. Premiums collected by intermediaries, but
not yet received, are assessed based on known sales and are included in written premium.

Unearned premiums are those proportion of premiums written in a year that relate to periods of risk after the reporting date. Unearned
premiums are calculated on a daily pro rata basis. The proportion attributable to subsequent periods is deferred as a provision for unearned
premiums.

Under life investment contracts deposits are received from policyholders which are then invested on behalf of the policyholders and recognised
as Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. No premium income is recognised as revenue. Fees deducted from members' accounts
are accounted for as fee income.

Those direct and indirect costs incurred during the financial period arising from the acquiring or renewing of insurance contracts are deferred
to the extent that these costs are recoverable out of future premiums from insurance contracts. All other acquisitions costs are recognised as
an expense when incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the deferred acquisitions cost asset (DAC) for life insurance contracts is amortised over the expected life of
the contracts. DAC for general insurance contracts is amortised over the period in which the revenues are earned.

An impairment review is performed at each reporting date or more frequently when an indication of impairment arises. When the recoverable
amount is less than the carrying value, an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. DACs are also considered in the liability adequacy
test for each reporting period.

DACs are derecognised when the related contracts are either settled or disposed of.

Claims expense
Claims expenses represent claim payments adjusted for the movement in the outstanding claims liability.

General insurance claims expenses are recognised when claims are notified with the exception of claims incurred but not reported for which
a provision is estimated. Life insurance contract claims are recognised when a liability has been established. Claims under life investment
contracts represent withdrawals of investment deposits and are recognised as a reduction in the life investment contract liabilities.

3.5.4 Other
Other income
Dividend income is recorded in the profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the dividend is established.

Other expense recognition
All other expenses are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

3.6 Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Group’s statement of financial position when the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2020

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added
to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the classification
of the financial assets.

Classification of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows;
and

. the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI):

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling the
financial assets; and

. the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

By default, all other financial assets are measured subsequently at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).

Despite the foregoing, the Group may make the following irrevocable election/designation at initial recognition of a financial asset:

. the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive income if
certain criteria are met; and

. the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that meets the amortised cost or FVTOCI criteria as measured at FVTPL if doing
so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

(i) Amortised cost and effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest income over the
relevant period.

For financial assets other than purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets (i.e. assets that are credit-impaired on initial
recognition), the effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) excluding expected credit
losses, through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset on initial recognition. For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is calculated
by discounting the estimated future cash flows, including expected credit losses, to the amortised cost of the debt instrument on initial
recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial recognition minus the principal
repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity
amount, adjusted for any expected credit losses. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a financial asset
before adjusting for any expected credit losses.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost and at FVTOCI.
For financial assets other than purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see
below).

For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to
the amortised cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent reporting periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves
so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Financial assets measured at amortised cost include cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, finance receivables, reverse annuity
mortgages and other receivables.

(i) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL. Specifically:

. Investments in equity instruments are classified as at FVTPL, unless the Group designates an equity investment that is neither held for
trading nor a contingent consideration arising from a business combination as at FVTOCI on initial recognition.

. Financial assets that do not meet the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria are classified as at FVTPL. In addition, financial
assets that meet either the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if such
designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency (so called ‘accounting mismatch’) that would

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on them on different bases. The Group has not designated
any financial assets as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised in
profit or loss to the extent they are not part of a designated hedging relationship (see hedge accounting policy). Fair value is determined in
the manner described in note 5.5.

Financial assets measured at FVTPL include equity securities, unitised funds, fixed interest securities and term deposits.

(iii) Finance assets at FVTOCI
Equity securities which are not held for trading, and which the Group has irrevocably elected at initial recognition to recognise in this category.
These are strategic investments and the Group considers this classification to be more relevant.

On disposal of these equity securities, any related balance within the FVOCI reserve is reclassified to retained earnings.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets that are measured at amortised cost and contract assets.
The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective
financial instrument.

The Group recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables and contract assets. The expected credit losses on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date,
including time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures
the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events on a financial
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Homogeneous loans are assessed on a collective basis (collective
impairment provision) and non-homogeneous loans are assessed individually (specific impairment provision).

(i) Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the date
of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort such as:

. actual or expected changes in economic indicators (ie change in employment rates); and

e for non-homogeneous loans significant changes in the value of the collateral supporting the loan or changes in the operating results

of the borrower.

The nature of the Group’s finance receivables (second tier retail and commercial lending) means there is little or no updated credit risk
information that is routinely obtained and monitored on an individual instrument until a customer breaches the contractual terms.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes
past due.

(ii) Definition of default
The Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:

a) significant financial difficulty of the borrower;

b) abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event (see (ii) above); and

c) itis becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the borrower is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the borrower has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.
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v) Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there
is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted
by forward-looking information as described above.

As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date. No further
advances are allowed against financial assets in default.

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous reporting period,
but determines at the current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance at
an amount equal to 12-month ECL at the current reporting date, except for assets for which simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying
amount through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest
in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the
proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL. However, financial
liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial asset does not qualify for derecognition or when the continuing involvement approach applies
are measured in accordance with the specific accounting policies set out below.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL
Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial liability is (i) contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination,
(i) held for trading or (iii) it is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

. it has been acquired principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in the near term; or

. on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages together and has a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

. it is a derivative, except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and effective hedging instrument.

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading or contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination may be

designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

. such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise; or

. the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed and its performance is
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s documented risk management or investment strategy, and information
about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

. it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and IFRS 9 permits the entire combined contract to be
designated as at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss
to the extent that they are not part of a designated hedging relationship (see Hedge accounting policy).

However, for financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL, the amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is
attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is recognised in other comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the effects of
changes in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. The
remaining amount of change in the fair value of liability is recognised in profit or loss. Changes in fair value attributable to a financial liability’s
credit risk that are recognised in other comprehensive income are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss; instead, they are transferred
to retained earnings upon derecognition of the financial liability.

Fair value is determined in the manner described in note 5.5.
Financial liabilities measured at FVTPL include contingent consideration.
Financial liabilities measured subsequently at amortised cost

Financial liabilities that are not (i) contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination, (ii) held-for-trading, or (iii) designated as
at FVTPL, are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid
or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a financial liability.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit
or loss.

When the Group exchanges with the existing lender one debt instrument into another one with the substantially different terms, such exchange
is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. Similarly, the Group
accounts for substantial modification of terms of an existing liability or part of it as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the
recognition of a new liability. It is assumed that the terms are substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the
new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received and discounted using the original effective rate is at least 10 percent different
from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability. If the modification is not substantial, the
difference between: (1) the carrying amount of the liability before the modification; and (2) the present value of the cash flows after modification
should be recognised in profit or loss as the modification gain or loss within other gains and losses.

Derivative financial instruments
The Group enters into derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate and foreign exchange rate risks, including foreign
exchange forward contracts, and interest rate swaps.

Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their fair
value at each reporting date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is designated and
effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.

A derivative with a positive fair value is recognised as a financial asset whereas a derivative with a negative fair value is recognised as a
financial liability. Derivatives are not offset in the financial statements unless the Group has both legal right and intention to offset.

A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the instrument is more than 12 months
and it is not expected to be realised or settled within 12 months. Other derivatives are presented as current assets or current liabilities.

Hedge accounting
The Group designates certain derivatives as hedging instruments in respect of interest rate risk in cash flow hedges.

At the inception of the hedge relationship, the Group documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item, along

with its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge

and on an ongoing basis, the Group documents whether the hedging instrument is effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of the hedged

item attributable to the hedged risk, which is when the hedging relationships meet all of the following hedge effectiveness requirements:

. there is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument;

. the effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that result from that economic relationship; and

. the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the quantity of the hedged item that the Group actually
hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument that the Group actually uses to hedge that quantity of hedged item.

If a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge effectiveness requirement relating to the hedge ratio but the risk management objective
for that designated hedging relationship remains the same, the Group adjusts the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship (i.e. rebalances the
hedge) so that it meets the qualifying criteria again.

Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives and other qualifying hedging instruments that are designated and qualify as
cash flow hedges is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading of cash flow hedging reserve, limited to
the cumulative change in fair value of the hedged item from inception of the hedge. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or loss in the periods when
the hedged item affects profit or loss, in the same line as the recognised hedged item. However, when the hedged forecast transaction results
in the recognition of a non-financial asset or a non-financial liability, the gains and losses previously recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity are removed from equity and included in the initial measurement of the cost of the non-financial asset or
non-financial liability. This transfer does not affect other comprehensive income. Furthermore, if the Group expects that some or all of the loss
accumulated in the cash flow hedging reserve will not be recovered in the future, that amount is immediately reclassified to profit or loss.

The Group discontinues hedge accounting only when the hedging relationship (or a part thereof) ceases to meet the qualifying criteria (after
rebalancing, if applicable). This includes instances when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised. The
discontinuation is accounted for prospectively. Any gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in cash flow
hedge reserve at that time remains in equity and is reclassified to profit or loss when the forecast transaction occurs. When a forecast
transaction is no longer expected to occur, the gain or loss accumulated in cash flow hedge reserve is reclassified immediately to profit or
loss.

3.7 Right of use assets and lease liabilities
The Group leases various offices, warehouses, retail stores, equipment and cars. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 3 to
8 years but may have extension options as described in below. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range
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of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants, but leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

Until the 2020 financial year, leases of property, plant and equipment were classified as either finance or operating leases. Payments made
under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) were charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period
of the lease.

From 1 April 2019, leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is available
for use by the Group. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over
the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The right-of-use
asset is depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of the
following lease payments:

« fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

« variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate;

» amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;

« the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

» payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be determined, the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value in
a similar economic environment with similar terms and conditions.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

« the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;

« any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received;
« any initial direct costs; and

« restoration costs.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or
loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets comprise IT-equipment and small items of office
furniture.

Extension and termination options are included in a number of property and equipment leases across the Group. These terms are used to
maximise operational flexibility in terms of managing contracts. The majority of extension and termination options held are exercisable only
by the Group and not by the respective lessor.

The Group has applied judgement to determine the lease term for some lease contracts that include renewal options. The assessment of
whether the Group is reasonably certain to exercise such options impacts the lease term, which significantly affects the amount of lease
liabilities and right-of-use assets.

A deferred tax asset is raised for the tax impact of the changes in recognised lease related assets and liabilities.
A lease is contract that conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

In the Statement of cash flow, lessees present:

. Short-term lease payments, payments for leases of low-value assets and variable lease payments not included in the measurement of
the lease liability as part of operating activities;

. Cash paid for the interest portion of a lease liability as either operating activities or financing activities, as permitted by NZ IAS 7 Statement
of Cash Flows (the Group has opted to include interest paid as part of operating activities, consistent with its presentation of interest paid
on financial liabilities); and

. Cash payments for the principal portion for a lease liability, as part of financing activities. Under NZ IAS 17, all lease payments on
operating leases were presented as part of cash flows from operating activities.

For the accounting policy applied prior to the adoption of IFRS 16 please refer to note 32.

3.8 Insurance contracts

Insurance contracts are those contracts that transfer significant insurance risk and are accounted for in accordance with the requirements of

NZ IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts. The Group issues the following insurance contracts:

. Long-term insurance contracts with fixed and guaranteed terms, these contracts insure events associated with human life (for example,
death) over a long duration;

e  Temporary life insurance contracts covering death disablement, disability and redundancy risks; and

. Short term motor vehicle contracts covering comprehensive, third party and mechanical breakdown risks.

The Group has determined that all assets of the Group’s subsidiary, DPL Insurance Limited, are assets backing policy liabilities and are
managed and reported in accordance with a mandate approved by the DPL Insurance Limited’s Board.

The liability for life insurance contracts is determined in accordance with Appendix C of NZ IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts and Professional
Standard No 20 of the New Zealand Society of Actuaries. In terms of these standards, the liability is determined using the methodology
referred to as Margin on Service (MoS). Under MoS the excess premium received over claims and expenses, 'the profit margin', is recognised
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over the life of the contract in a manner that reflects the pattern of risk accepted from the policyholder 'the service'. Longer-term lines of
business (annuities, funeral plan) are valued using the projection method, and shorter-term life and longer-term life contracts written on yearly
renewable premiums, are valued using the accumulation method, as provided for in NZ IFRS 4.

General insurance contract liabilities include claims provision and the provision for unearned premium. The outstandings claims provision is
based on the estimated ultimate cost of all claims incurred but not settled at the reporting date, whether reported or not, together with related
claims handling cost and a reduction for the expected value of salvage and other recoveries. Delays can be experienced in the notification
and settlement of claims, therefore the ultimate cost of these cannot be known at reporting date and are estimated based on past experience.
The liability is not discounted for the time value of money and is derecognised when the obligation to pay the claim expires, is discharged or
is cancelled.

The provision for unearned premiums represent the portion of premiums received or receivable that relates to risks that have not yet expired
at the reporting date. The provision is recognised when contracts are entered into and premiums are charged, and is recognised as premium
income over the term of the contract in accordance with the pattern of insurance service provided under the contract.

Liability adequacy testing is performed in terms of NZ IFRS 4 in order to test the adequacy of all insurance liabilities recorded in the statement
of financial position, net of deferred acquisition costs. Liability adequacy testing is performed at a portfolio level of contracts that are subject
to broadly similar risks and are managed together as a single portfolio.

3.9 Life investment contracts

Life investment contracts are those contracts with minimal insurance risk and are accounted for in accordance with NZ IFRS 15 'Revenue
from Contracts with Customers' (refer note 3.5.1) and NZ IFRS 9 'Financial Instruments' (refer note 3.5.2). The life investment contacts are
unit-linked and fair value of a unit linked contract is determined using the current unit values that reflect the fair value of the financial assets
backing the contract, multiplied by the number of units attributable to the contract holder.

3.10 Inventories

Inventories comprise primarily motor vehicles held for sale and are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Cost comprises purchase
price, shipping cost, compliance cost and other sundry related costs. Estimated selling prices are based upon recent observed vehicle sales
prices for comparable vehicles. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs
of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

3.11 Investment property
Investment property is held for capital appreciation and comprises land that was transferred from finance receivables through the exercise of
the Group’s security interest in a finance receivable that was in default.

Investment property is initially recognised at fair value on date of transfer or purchase and subsequently carried at fair value. The fair value of
investment properties is determined by a qualified